FILED 02-27-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal Nos. 22-AP-1855 22-AP-1856 22-AP-1857

RICHARD QUINLAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE DENIAL OF A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE AND A FINDING OF GUILT IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR JACKSON COUNTY ON SEPTEMBER 3, 2022, CASE NOS. 19-FO-20-, 19-FO-21, 19-FO-22, THE HONORABLE ANNA BECKER PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the trial court applied the wrong legal standard and failed to properly analyze whether the State proved that Heather Bolin had actual or apparent authority to consent to the entry of the defendant's Mother's cabin by clear and convincing evidence thereby resulting in an erroneous use of discretion?

The trial court did not analyze the third-party consent issue and did not determine whether valid third-party consent to enter the cabin existed. Instead, the court determined that after law enforcement entered the cabin the defendant was not in custody and his statements were voluntarily.

II. Whether the State proved that Heather Bolin had actual or apparent authority to consent to the entry of the defendant's Mother's cabin?

The trial court did not analyze or determine the third-party consent issue.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Pursuant to §752.31 (3) Wis. Stats. this case shall be decided by one Court of Appeals Judge unless the Court, sua sponte, orders a three judge panel.

Oral argument is not requested at this time.

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 6 of 19

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about September 20, 2017 Conservation Warden Kurt Haas received a tip from a Jason Miller that the defendant, Richard (Chad) Quinlan, had illegal bear bait on his property. (R. 43; p. 11, 24) (A-22-A-35). Haas was also familiar with a hunting show Quinlan was involved in called Final Pursuit and believed that a deer that was represented on the show as being harvested in Michigan was actually harvested in Wisconsin. <u>Id</u>.

On December 16, 2018 Haas and Conservation Warden Jamie McDermid went to the Quinlan property located at N2969 Arrow Road in Jackson County to interview Chad Quinlan about the alleged gaming violations. <u>Id</u>. at 13 (A-24). The property is posted with No Trespassing signs along the driveway leading into the property as well as on other parts of the property. (R. 36-38); (R. 43; p. 29-31) (A-40-42). The Wardens were dressed in plain clothes and were not wearing uniforms. (R. 43; p. 14) (A-25). They arrived in an unmarked truck and according to Haas knocked on the door of the residence of the home where the defendant's Mother, Joan Quinlan, was residing. (A-24-25). The wardens never knocked on the residence door. (R. 43; p. 20) (A-31). Instead, she saw them coming, exited the property and went out on the deck to talk with them. Haas assumed that she was the defendant's Mother, but never asked her who she was. Id. at 20 (A-31). (R. 43; p. 27) (A-38). He didn't tell Joan Quinlan why they were there. Id., (R. 43; p. 20) (A-31). Joan Quinlan thought Warden Haas was just a "regular guy" as he was dressed in a green or brown jacket wearing regular street clothes and a lot of people who visit have trucks. (R. 43; p. 37) (A-48). She did not see a gun, a badge, or any pepper spray on Warden Haas. Id. at 33 (A-44). Her contact with him lasted a couple of minutes. Haas asked if the defendant was there and Mrs. Quinlan told him that he was in the cabin next door,

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 7 of 19

approximately thirty feet away. <u>Id</u>. Subsequent to his contact with Joan Quinlan, Haas went to the small cabin and without identifying himself knocked on the door. (R. 43; p. 14) (A-25). An unknown female answered, Haas asked if he could come in and she agreed and opened the door. <u>Id</u>.

Haas didn't know at that time of entry who the female was, what her relationship was to the property, whether she was a guest or not, or whether she had mutual use of the property. (R. 43; p. 23) (A-34). At no time did Haas explain to the female, who let them in, the nature of their business, who they were or what they wanted. Id. at 24 (A-35). He did not question the female, subsequently identified as the defendant's girlfriend, about her relationship to the property, whether she had mutual use of the property, whether she was a guest or any facts bearing on actual or apparent authority to consent to enter. Id. at 23-24 (A-34-35). When he entered the cabin Haas didn't know if Chad Quinlan was sleeping or not but he was laying down on either a bed or a couch. Id. at 14, 24 (A-25, 35). He then interviewed Quinlan for approximately one hour wherein he admitted to several gaming violations. Although Haas described his contact as a "personal contact," it was not, he was acting as a Conservation Warden. Id. at 22-28 (A-33-39).

The defendant was subsequently cited with seven (7) different forfeiture violations including failing to complete registration as required, Jackson County Case No. 19-FO-18 (R. 1; p. 1-2); the same violation in 19-FO-19 and the use of an automated feeder in 19-FO-20; and in 19-FO-21 for placing feed to attract wild animals. He was further cited for failure to keep records as required under Section 29.961 (2) (a) Wis. Stats. in 19-FO-22 and 19-FO-176. Finally, in 19-FO-177, he was cited for hunting deer in an unauthorized area contrary to NR

¹ Haas testified that he subsequently recognized the female as Quinlan's girlfriend from the Final Pursuit video, although he did not know her name. (R. 43; p. 21) (A-33).

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 8 of 19

10.104 (9). Not guilty pleas were entered on his behalf on February 7, 2019 along with a jury demand. (R. 4, 6).

Motions for discovery along with a motion for leave to file additional pretrial motions were filed on March 21, 2019. Additional motions including a motion to suppress evidence and a motion to suppress evidence for lack of consent to enter were filed on May 13, 2019. (R. 9-12) (A-9-12). The State filed their written responses to the motions on or about July 9, 2020 and no further substantive action occurred in the matters until May 10, 2022. (R. 23-25).

On May 10, 2022 an evidentiary hearing was held on the defendant's suppression motions. At the request of the court, at the beginning of the hearing, the defense set forth its argument that "...there was no legitimate third-party consent to enter into the cottage..." (R. 43; p. 8) (A-19). "She [Heather Bolin] didn't have authority to let them in, she didn't have actual or apparent authority to let them in the house." <u>Id</u>. at 10 (A-21). The State argued that there was no search or any seizure, and therefore the Fourth Amendment was not implicated. <u>Id.</u> at 9 (A-20). After hearing the testimony of Warden Haas the court concluded that the defendant was not seized and that no search of the premises occurred and therefore the defendant's statements were not to be analyzed under search and seizure law, but rather whether they were voluntarily made. <u>Id.</u> at 39 (A-50). The court then applied the reasonable person standard for arrest and whether a reasonable person would feel free to leave and because the defendant was not compelled or coerced to make any statements, there was "no basis in law or in fact" to suppress his incriminating statements. Id. at 39-40 (A-50-51). At the conclusion of the motion hearing the defense again argued to the court that the State did not prove legitimate third-party consent to enter the cabin and that the burden was on the State to prove that valid consent was given. (R.

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 9 of 19

43; p. 9, 40-41). It further argued that the court's analysis was wrong, that the Fourth Amendment was implicated and that the issue was again whether valid third-party consent to enter existed. <u>Id</u>. at 40 (A-51). If the entry into the cabin was illegal, then the suppression of Quinlan's statements was the appropriate remedy. (R. 43; p. 10) (A-21). The court denied the motion and the matter was set for trial. (A-50-53).

On September 14, 2022 the case was resolved and the defendant, through counsel, entered no contest pleas to the forfeiture violations alleged in Case Nos. 19-FO-20, 19-FO-21, and 19-FO-22 (A-1-6). The court imposed forfeitures in the amount of \$343.50; \$343.50 and \$544.50, respectively. The court revoked the defendant's Chapter 29 privileges for a period of three (3) years. (R. 46) (A-1-6).

On or about October 10, 2022, nearly a month after the matter was resolved, the State filed a request for confiscation of the defendant's trail cameras along with a proposed order. (R. 48-49). The following day, on October 11, 2022, the defendant filed a letter with the court objecting to the confiscation request and the State filed a letter requesting that the Judgment of Conviction be amended to allow confiscation on October 13, 2022. (R. 51). The court issued an Order on October 17, 2022 denying the State's request for confiscation of the trail cameras on the grounds that it was untimely and was not the subject of negotiation which led to the resolution of the pending matters prior to trial. (R. 52) (A-7-8).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on October 27, 2022 and this appeal followed. (R. 56).

Further facts will be set forth below as necessary herein.

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 10 of 19

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Applied The Wrong Legal Standard And Failed To Properly Analyze Whether The State Proved Actual Or Apparent Authority For Valid Third Party Consent To Enter The Defendant's Mother's Cabin By Clear And Convincing Evidence, Thereby Resulting In An Erroneous Exercise of Discretion.

A. Standard of Review

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee "[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures." Whether this guarantee has been violated presents a question of constitutional fact. State v. Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, ¶19. When reviewing a circuit court's ruling on a motion to suppress evidence the trial court's factual findings will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous, but the application of constitutional principles to those facts presents a question of law which is reviewed de novo. County of Grant v. Vogt, 2014 WI 76, ¶17; State v. Matalones, 2016 WI 7, ¶28.

B. Erroneous Exercise Of Discretion

In its analysis the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion because it failed to apply the correct legal standard of third-party consent to the facts adduced at the hearing in denying the defendant's motion. The court determined that search and seizure law did not apply and instead imposed a reasonable person standard and applied the law of arrest to determine only whether the defendant's statements were voluntary after the wardens entered the cabin. (R. 43; p. 39-40) (A-50-51). The law required the court to determine whether the defendant's girlfriend had

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 11 of 19

mutual use of the property, and "common authority" over the premises and actual or apparent authority to allow entry into Joan Quinlan's cabin. See <u>United States v. Matlock</u>, 415 U.S. 164, 171 (1974). The court stated:

"The problem is, what we're talking about is search and seizure. There was no seizure of Mr. Quinlan and there was no search of the premises; there was no search of either the cabins; there was no evidence obtained."

This statement is erroneous because there was evidence obtained; Quinlan's statements. The statement is further erroneous because under the law there was a search. Law enforcement entry into a home is a search implicating the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. See State v. Boggess, 115 Wis.2d, 443, 449 (1983). A physical intrusion into the home is a search under the Fourth Amendment. Florida v. Jardines, 133 S. Ct. 1409, 1414 (2013).

The court continued:

"The entire motion is premised on seizure law, which is based on Fourth Amendment privacy interests relating to whether someone [is] sic a legitimate interest in privacy in that item. But I believe what the motion is really trying to address is the statements made by Mr. Quinlan, which are not under the same analysis. The statements have to be analyzed not under search and seizure law, in my opinion, they need to be analyzed into [sic] whether they were voluntary statements." (R. 43; p. 39).

Whether the defendant's statements were voluntary or not is only one part of the analysis. The defense never contended that the defendant's statements were involuntary. The court erred when it determined there was no search and seizure and that the Fourth Amendment was not implicated. The issue before the court was whether Heather Bolin, who answered the door and allowed entry into the cabin, had mutual use of the premises and had either actual or apparent authority to consent to the entry. Lacking either actual or apparent authority to consent the

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 12 of 19

search was unconstitutional and therefore suppression of the defendant's statements is the appropriate remedy.

Defense counsel raised this issue to the court when he argued that "...[i]f the speech flows from an initial illegal entry because there is not valid third-party consent, then suppression is the remedy." (R. 43; p. 41) (A-52). "She didn't have authority to let them in, actual or apparent authority to let them in the house.' <u>Id.</u> at 10 (A-21). Nevertheless, the court determined that the defendant did not have an expectation of privacy in his speech and failed to analyze the third-party consent issue.² By failing to analyze whether Heather Bolin had "common authority" and had actual or apparent authority to consent to the entry of the property the court erroneously exercised its discretion based on an erroneous application of the law. "Common authority" is defined as mutual use of the property and joint access and control for most purposes. <u>Matlock</u> at 171 n. 7. "An exercise of discretion based on an erroneous application of the law is an erroneous exercise of discretion." <u>State v. Martinez</u>, 150 Wis.2d 62, 71 (1989), <u>State v. Black</u>, 2001 WI 31 ¶19; <u>State v. Burchard</u>, 276 Wis.2d 309 (Wis. App. 2004).

Here the court was required to analyze the facts adduced at the evidentiary hearing and to apply an objective standard under the "totality of the circumstances" considering whether the facts available to the officer at the moment "would warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that the consenting party had authority over the premises." Illinois v. Rodriquez, 497 U.S. 177, 188 (1990). This court is obliged to uphold a discretionary decision based on the facts in the record, but only if the court applied the correct standard of law and that application is the product of a rational mental process. Hartung v. Hartung, 102 Wis.2d 58 (1981). The trial court

² The court adopted the State's argument that there was neither a search or seizure. The State mistakenly contended: [W]e're not talking about search and seizure which is all of the law that has been referenced in the defense motion. None of it applies." (R. 43; p. 41) (A-52).

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 13 of 19

erroneously exercised its discretion when it failed to apply the correct legal standard of third party consent and failed to determine whether Heather Bolin possessed "common authority over or other sufficient relationship to the premises or effects sought to be inspected." Matlock at 171.

C. The State Failed To Prove The Defendant's Girlfriend, Heather Bolin, Had Common Authority Over The Premises and Possessed Either Actual Or Apparent Authority To Consent To The Entry Of The Defendant's Mother's Cabin.

Searches conducted without a warrant are "per se" unreasonable subject to a few limited exceptions. State v. Kieffer, 217 Wis. 2d. 531, 541 (1998). The exception at issue in this case is consent and the State has the burden of proving consent by clear and convincing evidence. State v. Tomlinson, 2002 WI 91, ¶21. In certain cases consent may be given by a party who is not the subject of a search and this third person must have either actual authority to consent or apparent authority on which the officer reasonably relied. Id. at ¶25. Here, the wardens entered Joan Quinlan's cabin without a warrant and they did not have her permission to enter. For consent to be valid the third party must "possess common authority over or other sufficient relationship to the premises or effects sought to be inspected." <u>United States v. Matlock</u>, 415 U.S. 164, 171 (1974). In order for common authority to exist the third party must have "joint access [to] or control" over the individual's property such that the subject of the search has "assumed the risk" of any intrusion. Matlock 415 U.S. at 171; n. 7. Whether common authority exists or not depends on the totality of the circumstances. <u>Tomlinson</u> at ¶¶21, 31. In determining third party consent the sufficiency of the consenting individual's relationship to the premises and use by persons generally having joint access or control for most purposes is considered. Matlock at 171. In this case, Heather Bolin's relationship to the property was insufficient to establish either

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 14 of 19

actual or apparent authority to consent to the Warden's entry.

On direct examination Haas described the woman who allowed entry only as a "female". (R. 43; p. 14) (A-25). He did not initially describe her as the defendant's girlfriend and he did not know her name. (R. 43; p. 14, 23) (A-25, 34). He asked the female if he could come in and she said yes. The record does not reflect Haas made any inquiry to establish her relationship to the property. He did not explore whether she was a guest or not or whether she had mutual use of the property or "common authority." He never explained who he was, why he was there, and he didn't know whether the female subsequently described as the defendant's girlfriend had the right to invite guests into the house or not. <u>Id</u>. at 22-24 (A-33-35). The defendant did not have any legal interest in the property. <u>Id</u>. at 27 (A-38). The property was owned by his Mother, Joan Quinlan. Heather Bolin did not have the right to invite guests into the cabin and did not have the right to invite anybody on to the Quinlan property. Id. at 34 (A-45). She did not have the right to stay at the property by herself and she had never been given permission to stay on the property without the defendant being present. <u>Id</u>. She did not have permission to let anybody into the cabin and did not have authority to go anywhere on the property or do whatever she wanted. Id. at 35 (A-46). If Ms. Bolin wanted to go anywhere on the property she need permission from Joan Quinlan. Id. In reviewing the totality of the circumstances the court must look at the officer's knowledge of the person allowing entry at the time and his or her relationship to the property in order to justify a third-party consent search. Here, Haas made no inquiry of the defendant's girlfriend or her right to invite guests or her relationship to and use of the property. He did not question her about whether she had the right to allow access to the property. The record does not establish her mutual use of the property or "common authority"

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 15 of 19

over it. In fact the record establishes the opposite. That mere fact that it was the defendant's girlfriend, who Haas later recognized as the female who opened the door, does not alone establish third-party consent by clear and convincing evidence under the totality of the circumstances. Here there is no evidence that Ms. Bolin possessed a key to the cabin, ever lived at the cabin, had any personal belongings at the cabin, or stayed there alone. Haas made no inquiry as to whether she received mail at the cabin or kept clothing at the cabin, did chores at the cabin, nor did he determine the length of her stay to support any conclusion that she had authority to consent to the entry. The factors considered as guidelines in determining third party consent in Sobczak were never established by the State or considered by the court. State v. Sobczak, 2013 WI 52 ¶20. See also Sobczak at ¶56. Shirley S. Abrahamson, C.J. (dissenting). As stated in Matlock the test which applies to all consenting persons as set forth by the United States Supreme Court depends on "common authority" and rests "on mutual use of the property by persons generally having joint access or control for most purposes" or "other sufficient relationship to the premises." 415 U.S. 164, 171 (1974).

In <u>Illinois v. Rodriquez</u> 497 U.S. 177, 181-82 (1990) the United States Supreme Court determined that a girlfriend who previously lived in the defendant's apartment, had a key and occasionally spent overnights did not have actual authority to consent to a search of the apartment. The former girlfriend in <u>Rodriquez</u> had a much stronger connection to the residence and the apartment than the consenting party in this case.

In <u>State v. Kieffer</u>, 217 Wis. 2d. 531 (1998) the Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that the defendant's father-in-law lacked actual and apparent authority to consent to a search of the loft above his garage where the defendant and his wife were living. In <u>Kieffer</u>, the court

Case 2022AP001857 Brief of Appellant Filed 02-27-2023 Page 16 of 19

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