FILED 04-27-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN (

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Appeal Nos. 22-AP-1855

22-AP-1856

22-AP-1857

RICHARD CHAD QUINLAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Jeri A. Marsolek Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1022935 Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent 307 Main St. Black River Falls, WI 54615 (715) 284-0242 jeri.marsolek@da.wi.gov

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE CORRECT LEGAL STANDARD IN THIS CASE WHEN THE COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT THIRD PARTY CONSENT TO ENTER WAS NOT AT ISSUE.
 - A. THE ENTRY INTO THE CABIN WAS NOT IMPROPER UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

In the present case, Warden Haas approached the cabin occupied by Quinlan, first passing the residence of his mother, Joan Quinlan. Ms. Quinlan did not tell Haas that he was trespassing, nor did she order him to leave the property.

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 7 of 14

R.43:37; App.48. Haas continued past Ms. Quinlan toward the cabin to which she directed him, in order to find Quinlan and speak with him. Ultimately, Haas reached the door of the cabin, knocked and was invited to enter.

The United States Supreme Court recognized that "the knocker on the front door is treated as an invitation or license to attempt an entry, justifying ingress to the home by solicitors, hawkers and peddlers of all kinds." *Florida v. Jardines*, 569 U.S. 1, 8, 133 S.Ct. 1409, 1415, 185 L.Ed.2d 495 (2013); citing *Breard v. Alexandria*, 341 U.S. 622, 626, 71 S.Ct. 920, 95 L.Ed. 1233 (1951). The *Jardines* court went on to state:

This implicit license typically permits the visitor to approach the home by the front path, knock promptly, wait briefly to be received, and then (absent invitation to linger longer) leave. Complying with the terms of that traditional invitation does not require fine-grained legal knowledge; it is generally managed without incident by the Nation's Girl Scouts and trick-or-treaters. Thus, a police officer not armed with a warrant may approach a home and knock, precisely because that is "no more than any private citizen might do. *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. , 131 S.Ct. 1849, 1862, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011).

Jardines, 569 U.S. at 8, 133 S.Ct. at 1415-1416.

Likewise in this case, Warden Haas simply partook in that traditional invitation to knock, waited to be received, and then, when he obtained an invitation to remain longer, spoke with Quinlan for nearly an hour about various hunting violations Quinlan had committed. There was no intent by Haas to search the premises and, in fact, no search occurred. Therefore, the doctrine of third party consent does not apply to this case.

B. THE KNOCK AND TALK ENCOUNTER IN THIS CASE WAS NOT A SEIZURE FOR FOURTH AMENDMENT PURPOSES.

The basic purpose of the prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures is to safeguard the privacy and security of individuals against arbitrary invasions by government officials. *State v. Boggess*, 115 Wis. 2d 443, 448-449, 340 N.W.2d 516, 520 (1983) (citing *Michigan v. Tyler*, 436 U.S. 499, 504, 98 S.Ct. 1942, 1947, 56 L.Ed.2d 486 (1978)). Nonetheless, a police officer not armed with a warrant may approach a home and knock, precisely because that is "no

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 8 of 14

more than any private citizen might do." *Kentucky v. King*, 563 U.S. 452, 469, 131 S.Ct. 1849, 1862, 179 L.Ed.2d 865 (2011).

In *Kentucky v. King*, officers conducted a controlled buy of drugs. One officer told the others to hurry, as the subject they were after was retreating into a residence. The subject entered an apartment on the right. The officers following him did not know which apartment he had entered, but smelled marijuana emanating from the apartment on the left. Officers knocked and announced "police" at the apartment on the left, heard noises consistent with disposing of evidence, and forced entry. Officers then saw marijuana in plain view, along with King, whom they arrested. King was charged with trafficking and other offenses. King filed a motion to suppress which was denied by the trial court. The *King* court found that when officers knocked and announced, they had exigent circumstances upon receiving no response to their knocking and hearing noise that could have been evidence being destroyed. *King*, 563 U.S. at 459, 131 S.Ct. at 1856, 179 L.Ed.2d 865.

Although the court in *King* based its decision on exigent circumstances, the court also stated that officers may seek consent-based encounters if they are lawfully present in the place where the consensual encounter occurs. If consent is freely given, it makes no difference that an officer may have approached the person with the hope or expectation of obtaining consent. *Id.*, citing *Immigration Naturalization Service v. Delgado*, 466 U.S.210, 216, 104 S.Ct. 1758, 80 L.Ed.2d 247 (1984) ("While most citizens will respond to a police request, the fact that people do so, and do so without being told they are free not to respond, hardly eliminates the consensual nature of the response.").

Quinlan believes that his Fourth Amendment rights were breached by the knock and talk encounter when Haas entered the cabin. Any analysis regarding whether Fourth Amendment protections have been breached must begin with whether a search and seizure occurred. *Cesar*, 2010 WI App 170 at 11 10, 330

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 9 of 14

Wis. 2d at 771, citing *United States v. Mowatt*, 513 F.3d 395, 399-400 (4th Cir. 2008).

In the present case, Warden Haas testified that his purpose in seeking to enter the Quinlan cabin was to conduct a "knock and talk" interview. R. 43 at p. 22-23; App. 33-34. To effectuate a knock and talk at a residence, police do not need probable cause or a warrant. *City of Sheboygan v. Cesar*, 2010 WI App 170, 11 9, n. 5, 330 Wis. 2d 760, 796 N.W.2d 429. Thus, Haas did not need probable cause or a warrant to speak with Quinlan.

The court in *Cesar* noted that not all police-citizen encounters constitute a seizure, and therefore, many such contacts do not fall within the safeguards afforded by the Fourth Amendment. One such category of contact involves no restraint on a person's liberty and is characterized by an officer seeking the citizen's voluntary cooperation through non-coercive questioning. This is not a seizure withing the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. *Cesar*, at ¶ 12, 330 Wis. 2d at 770, 796 N.W.2d at 435 (citing *United States v. Odum*, 72 F.3d 1279, 1283 (7th Cir. 1995 (citation omitted)). "As long as a reasonable person would have believed that he [or she] was free to disregard the police presence and go about his [or her] business, there is no seizure and the Fourth Amendment does not apply. *Id.*, citing *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98,11 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729.

In *Cesar*, officers responded to a report of a vehicle striking a fire hydrant, then driving into a driveway. Upon arrival, an officer observed a damaged hydrant and spoke with a witness. The officer then proceeded down the block to a truck with damage consistent with hitting the hydrant. The vehicle was registered to the defendant at the address where it was parked. The officers attempted contact at the door numerous times; and looked in the windows at an individual, who looked back at them but didn't respond. Officers shouted they wanted to speak with him. Eventually, the defendant spoke to the officers through a window. The defendant came out onto the porch, and made incriminating statements. The defendant filed a

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 10 of 14

motion to suppress those statements, claiming that the officers' actions constituted an unlawful seizure of him.

The court held that a person is considered "seized" if a reasonable person would not feel free to leave or terminate the conversation with an officer, taking into account all of the circumstances surrounding the incident. *Cesar*, at ¶ 13, 330 Wis. 2d at 774, 796 N.W.2d at 436 (citing *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S.544, 554, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64 L.Ed. 497 (1980). "However, whereas here the situation is such that a person would not wish to leave his location, such as his home, the appropriate inquiry is whether a reasonable person would feel free to decline the officer's requests or otherwise terminate the encounter." *Id.*, citing *Florida v. Bostick*, 501 U.S. 429, 436, 111 S. Ct. 2382, 115 L.Ed.2d 389 (1991).

Thus, a "knock and talk" interview at a private residence that has lost its consensual nature and has effectively become an in-home seizure may trigger Fourth Amendment scrutiny under *Bostick. Id.* That inquiry involves a determination of whether an officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained a citizen's liberty such that a reasonable person would not feel free to leave or terminate the encounter. *State v. Williams*, 2002 WI 94 11¶ 20, 22, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 646 N.W.2d 834; *See also, Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 100 S.Ct. 1870, 64L.Ed.3d 497 (1980) ("Only if, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed that he [or she] was not free to leave"). Questioning by law enforcement officers does not alone effectuate a seizure. *Williams*, 255 Wis. 2d 1, 11 22, 646 N.W.2d 834.

In the present case, Warden Haas, while in plain clothes, displaying no weapon, was invited into the residence and requested to speak with Quinlan. Quinlan agreed to speak with Haas and the two spoke for almost an hour. Quinlan never asked Haas to leave. R.43:16-17. There was no allegation of coercion or coercive tactics by Warden Haas, and the recording of the encounter indicates none. R.42. The encounter had been a friendly one. A reasonable person in

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 11 of 14

Quinlan's position would have felt free to tell Haas that he no longer wished to speak about the matter, and wanted Haas to leave.

The trial court in this case accurately applied the undisputed facts to the correct rule of law: whether a reasonable person would feel free to leave. There is no dispute that Warden Haas was in plain clothes, not a military style uniform, had no weapon showing, was not speaking in a coercive manner, and was speaking with Quinlan in Quinlan's own home. A reasonable person speaking to a game warden in plain clothes, in a noncoercive mariner, in his or her own home, would feel free to terminate such an interview and ask the warden to leave. Thus, the trial court properly applied the facts to the correct statement of law and this court should uphold the trial court decision.

C. WARDEN HAAS HAD A REASONABLE BELIEF OF PERMISSION TO ENTER THE CABIN FOR PURPOSES OF A KNOCK AND TALK INTERVIEW.

Quinlan argued that Warden Haas was not lawfully in the cabin at the time the knock and talk interview because Heather Bolin, who told Haas to "come in," did not have legal authority to do so. The question according to Quinlan is whether Bolin had authority to give third party consent to enter for purposes of conducting the knock and talk. As previously discussed, third party consent is a concept used to determine whether a search is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment, not whether a "knock and talk" encounter is reasonable. Despite the lack of search, if we analyze the concept of third party consent, the inevitable conclusion is that the entry into Quinlan's cabin was reasonable.

A warrantless entry and search by law enforcement officers does not violate the Fourth Amendment's proscription of "unreasonable searches and seizures" if the officers have obtained the consent of a third party who possesses common authority over the premises. *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S.177, 179, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 2796, 111 L.Ed.2d 148 (1990). The court in *Rodriguez* went on to state that a court must then consider whether the police could rely on a reasonable belief that

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 12 of 14

they had a valid consent to search. If so, the evidence obtained should not be suppressed. The issue is not whether police officers conducting "a search or seizure under one of the exceptions to the warrant requirement ... [are] correct, but that they always [are] reasonable." *Id.*, 497 U.S. 177 at 185, 110 S.Ct. at 2800.

The Constitution is no more violated when officers enter without a warrant because they reasonably (though erroneously) believe that the person who has consented to their entry is a resident of the premises, than it is violated when they enter without a warrant because they reasonably (though erroneously) believe they are in pursuit of a violent felon who is about to escape. *Illinois v. Rodriguez*, 497 U.S.177, 186, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 2800, 111 L.Ed.2d 148 (1990); citing *Archibald v. Mosel*, 677 F.2d 5 (CA1 1982). As with other factual determinations bearing upon search and seizure, determination of consent to enter must "be judged against an objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment ... `warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief' " that the consenting party had authority over the premises? *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 1880, 20 L.Ed.2d 889 (1968). If not, then warrantless entry without further inquiry is unlawful unless authority actually exists. But if so, the search is valid. *Rodriguez*, 497 U.S. at 189, 110 S.Ct. at 2801.

In this case, when Haas knocked on the door and Bolin told him to "come in," it was reasonable for him to conclude that she invited him inside with authority to do so; particularly since Quinlan was in the same room with Bolin and did not ask Haas to leave. It is unreasonable to expect, and contrary to tradition, a person who knocks, and is invited inside, to then inquire, "Pardon me, but do you have the proper authority to invite me inside?"

The trial court in this case did not reach its decision based on third party consent. But even if such doctrine were appropriate to employ, Quinlan's argument fails. An officer invited inside by an adult opening the door of a residence may reasonably infer that the person has authority to allow him inside. Once inside, that inference is further bolstered by the fact that, when faced with

Case 2022AP001855 Brief of Respondent Filed 04-27-2023 Page 13 of 14

the owner of the residence, he is not told to leave, but his invitation to a discussion is accepted. Therefore, the "knock and talk" encounter in this case did not violate the Fourth Amendment, and this Court should uphold the trial court decision denying the motion to suppress Quinlan's statements.

CONCLUSION

The trial court in this case applied the correct legal standard (whether a reasonable person would feel free to leave) to the facts of this case to find that there had been no search or seizure for Fourth Amendment purposes in this case. Therefore, Quinlan's insistence on applying third party consent doctrine in this case is misplaced. The investigatory tool used by DNR Warden Haas was a knock and talk interview, in which a reasonable person would have felt free to leave or terminate the interview. Thus, no seizure of Quinlan occurred, and there was no Fourth Amendment violation.

Moreover, even if it could be argued that a seizure under the Fourth Amendment occurred in this case, Warden Haas had a reasonable belief that he had consent to enter the cabin when Bolin opened the door and told him he could enter the one room cabin where Quinlan was located. Therefore, no Fourth Amendment violation occurred.

Absent a Constitutional violation, the entry into the cabin and subsequent knock and talk interview were lawful. Therefore the Plaintiff-Respondent respectfully requests that this Court uphold the trial court's decision denying the motion to suppress Quinlan's statements.

Electronically Signed b

Jeri Marsolek Assistant District Attorney Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant State Bar No. 1022935

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that this brief conforms to the rules contained in s. 809.19 (8) (b), (bm), and (c) for a brief. The length of this brief is 3,839 words.

Electronically Signed by:
Jeri Marsolek
Assistant District Attorney
Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant